
1

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

EASTERN DIVISION

ZUHAL OSMAN : Case No. _____________
: J. ____________

Plaintiff, :
:

v. :
: COMPLAINT WITH JURY DEMAND

MISSION ESSENTIAL PERSONNEL, LLC :
4343 Easton Commons, Suite 100 :
Columbus, OH 43219 :
c/o CT Corporation System, statutory agent :
1300 East Ninth St. :
Cleveland, OH 44114 :

:
Defendant . :

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Zuhal Osman is a citizen and resident of the Commonwealth of

Kentucky.

 2. Defendant Mission Essential Personnel, LLC (“MEP”) is an Ohio for–profit

corporation providing language and interpretation services located in Columbus, OH.  MEP is an

employer within the meaning of federal and state law.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 because

it arises under the laws of the United States.  

4. Plaintiff’s Counts I and III arise  under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,

as amended.

5. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining state law claims
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pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 on the grounds that they are so related to the federal claims, over

which this Court has original jurisdiction, that they form the same case or controversy.

6. This Court also has jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332

because the parties are completely diverse and the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.

7. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, pursuant to 28

U.S.C. §1391(b) because Defendant resides in the Southern District of Ohio, Eastern Division.

8. Plaintiff filed a charge of gender and national origin discrimination with the Equal

Employment Opportunity Commission, and received a Determination dated January 12, 2011

that all requirements for coverage had been met and that available evidence established a

violation of Title VII.  The EEOC subsequently issued a Notice of Right to Sue on April 1, 2011,

which Plaintiff received on April 4, 2011.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

9. Plaintiff is a female who was born in Afghanistan, and is a naturalized United

States citizen.

10. Plaintiff was employed with MEP and its predecessor, as a Pashto linguist,

deployed to Afghanistan in support of U.S. military operations, since December, 2007.  She had

been in country for over three years prior to that, employed in a similar role by a different

contractor.  She held, and still holds, a Top Secret/SCI clearance, and she was the only female

linguist with this clearance in her office in Bagram. 

11. Plaintiff excelled in this position, and her work record is exemplary.  She was

often cited as the top producer in her section, and the U.S. military personnel with whom she

worked were extremely satisfied with her performance.  Captain Bennett, for example, expressed
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dismay when he thought Plaintiff was leaving to accept another assignment, and asked her to

stay.  She reassured him that she was not transferring.  In short, she was a hard-working, loyal,

dedicated, and valuable employee, providing a critically needed skill in support of U.S. national

security and Operation Enduring Freedom.

12. During the last several months of her employment with MEP, Plaintiff suffered

harassment because of her gender by both MEP management and a co-worker, Kashef Khan.  For

instance, in January 2009, Khan falsely reported to MEP management that Plaintiff had flown to

an Arab state, Qatar, without telling anyone, alleging that she violated security regulations.  MEP

pulled Plaintiff off the mission for a month while it investigated, and did not allow her to work. 

Although MEP could not verify the allegations, it did not return Plaintiff to the mission until she

asked U.S. Counter Intelligence to intervene.  When CI questioned the basis for the investigation,

MEP immediately returned Plaintiff to her assignment.  However, while she sat idle, the military

lost the services of one of the most experienced and highly qualified linguists available.

13. After this, MEP continued to harass Plaintiff by trying to discipline her for

unfounded reasons, including an incident report over the false allegation that she flew to Qatar, a

counseling report for “shirking her duties” on her day off, and locking her out of her room

(actually changing the lock) while she was in the shower.  As a woman, Plaintiff was particularly

humiliated by the last incident, because she was forced to seek assistance by trekking all over the

camp in her damp shower clothes.  The MEP supervisor who changed her lock, Sebrena Minter,

refused to give her the combination to the new lock, and explained that she had changed the lock

simply because she had the power to do it.  

14. Plaintiff complained about this harassment in a March 6, 2009 e-mail to Ron
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Chaney, MEP’s theater director, and others.  MEP took no action.

15. Plaintiff also suffered continuing harassment by her co-worker Khan.  This

harassment took the form of making numerous complaints to management about Plaintiff, such

as falsely accusing her of seeking personal favors from military and civilian supervisors in order

to avoid work.  He even caller her a “scammer.”

16. On March 14, 2009, Plaintiff again complained to MEP management about this

harassment.  This time, she complained in an e-mail to Lisa McMahon, the Deputy Director of

Human Resources.  Again, no action was taken.

17. Khan also harassed other women in the office, making sexual advances and sexual

comments.  These advances and comments were not directed toward Plaintiff, but she heard

them, and these actions by Khan made Plaintiff uncomfortable working around him.  On one

occasion, Plaintiff heard Khan refer to Pakistani women as “whores.”

18. Plaintiff brought this gender and national origin harassment to the attention of Lt.

Col. James Wetzel, the most senior military person in charge of Plaintiff’s office and its mission. 

She asked him to speak to the office about the importance of overcoming racial and gender

animosities to improve morale and unit cohesion, and he did so.  However, MEP took no action

to stop the harassment.

19. In early July, 2009, David Slovina, an MEP recruiter, asked for help recruiting

linguists with uncommon language skills, Waziri among them.  There was a critical shortage of

linguists who speak Waziri, Pashto, Urdu, and Arabic who could accompany soldiers into

combat.  In particular, the need for linguists who can speak Waziri was crucial to the war effort

(as that region sheltered many Taliban and Al Qaeda), and not many of the MEP linguists on
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staff speak it.  

20. In order to assist the mission, Plaintiff wrote an e-mail on July 10, 2009 to Mr.

Slovina recommending her co-worker Khan, as a Waziri linguist, and informing him that Khan is

from Waziristan, although Khan was hiding his ethnicity.  She also informed Captain Chen, her

direct military supervisor.  Plaintiff knew that Khan was hiding his ethnicity because he did not

want to work on Waziri missions “to inform against his own people.”  Plaintiff believed that

Khan’s subterfuge had national security implications, and rightly questioned Khan’s loyalty.

21. Within a few days of sending this e-mail, on July 18, 2009, the new MEP Theater

Director, Fred Lynch, called Plaintiff to a meeting.  Others present at the meeting were Deborah

Fleming, Maria Voisy, Jim Walker and Rick Bradley.  At this meeting, Lynch accused Plaintiff

of “committing a crime” and “violating the 14  Amendment.”  When Plaintiff, stunned at theseth

accusations, asked for explanations, Lynch told her, “Stop, you are not allowed to speak.”  He

asked her if she agreed she was guilty of these things, which he did not explain.  She said no.  He

then fired her.  She was told that MEP considered her a “troublemaker,” and that “this sort of

behavior will not be tolerated.”

22. That was not the end, however, of MEP’s mistreatment of Plaintiff.  Because she

needed to arrange transportation back to Ft. Benning from the Bagram base, she contacted the

Theater Linguist Manager (military) and CRC (which handles logistics, supplies and equipment

in Ft. Benning, Georgia).  Rick Bradley, the HR Manager for MEP, berated her for this, then

moved her living quarters to a tent on the other side of the base.

23. MEP held back her pay and required her to check in twice a day so that it could

keep tabs on her, but did nothing to arrange for her transportation back to the U.S.  MEP
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repeatedly threatened to have her Top Secret/SCI clearance revoked.  

24. When Plaintiff contacted U.S. Counter Intelligence for assistance, MEP angrily

transported her to another base in Kabul.

25. There, MEP monitored Plaintiff’s phone calls, again threatened to cause her

security clearance to be revoked, confiscated her phone, and warned not to speak to anyone in the

military.  Eventually, without explanation, MEP transferred her back to Bagram.  Both trips, to

and from Kabul, were without military escort, causing Plaintiff anxiety about her safety.

26. In addition, MEP Chief of Staff Jim Walker confiscated and destroyed Plaintiff’s

U.S.  passport, making it impossible for her to return to the U.S.  Before her termination, Plaintiff

had sent her passport to the State Department to be renewed, and was awaiting its return by mail. 

Without Plaintiff’s knowledge, Walker retrieved Plaintiff’s passport from the mail when it was

returned, and destroyed it. 

27. Walker then told Plaintiff that she could leave the country on some sort of

undefined “travel document” that she could obtain from the U.S. consulate in Kabul.  Plaintiff

feared that leaving Afghanistan without her U.S. passport would prevent her from re-entering the

U.S., so she pleaded with Walker to allow her to wait for the passport to show up.  Walker told

her, “I don’t care what happens to you once you are on that plane out of here.”

28. Shortly thereafter, MEP’s Gaby Nelson told Plaintiff to grab her things and get

ready to board a plane to leave the country.  Plaintiff asked if her passport had arrived, but

received no response.  Although she was extremely anxious not knowing if she would have her

passport, she had no choice but to obey, and boarded a vehicle she assumed was headed for the

flightline.
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29. Instead of arriving at the flightline, the MEP vehicle dropped her off at the MEP

main office, and instructed her to wait outside.  She was forced to wait for ten hours in the hot

sun, without food or water.  Plaintiff was afraid to step away even momentarily to use the

restroom or get some water, fearing that MEP would use that against her as a false charge of

AWOL or insubordination.  After ten hours, another MEP manager told her to get in another

vehicle, which headed out of Bagram toward Kabul, where she was dropped off at another base,

not the airport.

30. Instead of telling her that Walker had destroyed her passport, MEP pretended the

passport was lost, and insisted that Plaintiff go to the U.S. consulate and request another

passport.  Plaintiff did so, but learned that the consulate could not issue another new passport to

her, as it had already renewed her passport.  MEP instructed her to tell the consulate that her

passport was lost, and try again.  Because her renewed passport was never found (because it had

been deliberately destroyed), the U.S. consulate eventually issued Plaintiff a new passport.

31. After the new passport was issued, MEP's Travel Coordinator then told Plaintiff

that he had called the U.S. consulate to verify this new passport, and that it was invalid.  Plaintiff

suggested he ask Jim Walker for her valid U.S. passport, believing that it must have arrived in

the mail by that time.  The travel coordinator returned to say that Walker wanted her to go

upstairs and ask for it herself. 

32. Plaintiff refused to be humiliated by Walker again and refused.  The MEP travel

coordinator said, “You want to go home, don't you?  Now, let's not make this complicated.  I

understand you have a TS.  That's something you want to keep, right?”  A few minutes later,

Rick Bradley entered the same office and told Plaintiff that her passport had been destroyed. 
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When Plaintiff expressed dismay and disbelief, unable to believe anyone would destroy her

passport, Bradley threatened to call the military police. 

33. Plaintiff suffered extreme emotional distress and anxiety over the loss of her

passport, because she had no other proof of her U.S. citizenship.  Even after she learned that her

passport was destroyed, she did not know whether she would be allowed to re-enter the U.S.

34. After three weeks of treating her like a criminal and preventing her from returning

home to the U.S., MEP finally allowed Plaintiff to return home in early August, 2009.  However,

it never paid her for the time she spent waiting to be sent home, despite the fact that it was MEP

who kept her in Afghanistan much longer than necessary.  It also never paid her for the last week

she worked, from July 13 through July 18, 2009, and it never paid her the completion bonus she

had earned as of July 1, 2009.

35. MEP terminated Plaintiff without any legitimate, non-discriminatory reason. 

Moreover, her language skills were and still are in critical demand by the U.S. military, and MEP

deprived the mission of her services without justification.  

COUNT I

(Gender Discrimination – Title VII)

36. Plaintiff realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

37. Plaintiff, a female, was fully qualified for her position at all relevant times.

38. Defendant replaced Plaintiff with a male employee, and/or treated similarly

situated male employees better than Plaintiff.

39. Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment because of her gender in violation

of Title VII.
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40. Plaintiff was subjected to unwelcome harassment, both before and after her

termination, because of her gender, and was  forced to work in a hostile, abusive work

environment which was severe and/or pervasive, and interfered with her ability to perform her

position.  

41. Defendant was aware of the hostile, abusive work environment and took no action

to prevent or correct it. 

  42. Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, wanton, malicious and in reckless

disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.

43. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered

injury and damage for which she is entitled to judgment.

COUNT II

(Gender Discrimination – O.R.C. §§4112.02(A), 4112.99)

44. Plaintiff realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

45. Plaintiff was a female and fully qualified for her position at all relevant times.

46. Defendant replaced Plaintiff with a male employee, and/or treated similarly

situated male employees better than Plaintiff.

47. Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment because of her gender in violation

of Ohio Revised Code § 4112.02(A).

48. Plaintiff was subjected to unwelcome harassment, both before and after her

termination, because of her gender, and was  forced to work in a hostile, abusive work

environment which was severe and/or pervasive, and interfered with her ability to perform her

position.  
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49. Defendant was aware of the hostile, abusive work environment and took no action

to prevent or correct it. 

  50. Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, wanton, malicious and in conscious

disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.

51. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered

injury and damage for which she is entitled to judgment under O.R.C. §§4112.02 and 4112.99.

COUNT III

(National Origin Discrimination – Title VII)

52. Plaintiff realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

53. Plaintiff, a naturalized U.S. citizen born in Afghanistan, was fully qualified for her

position at all relevant times.

54. Defendant replaced Plaintiff with a non-Afghan-born employee, and/or treated

similarly situated non-Afghan-born employees better than Plaintiff.

55. Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment because of her national origin in

violation of Title VII.

  56. Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, wanton, malicious and in reckless

disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.

57. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered

injury and damage for which she is entitled to judgment.

COUNT IV

(National Origin Discrimination – O.R.C. §§4112.02(A), 4112.99)

58. Plaintiff realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.
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59. Plaintiff, a naturalized U.S. citizen born in Afghanistan, was fully qualified for her

position at all relevant times.

60. Defendant replaced Plaintiff with non-Afghan-born employee, and/or treated

similarly situated non-Afghan-born employees better than Plaintiff.

61. Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment because of her national origin in

violation of Ohio Revised Code § 4112.02(A).

  62. Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, wanton, malicious and in conscious

disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.

63. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered

injury and damage for which she is entitled to judgment under O.R.C. §§4112.02 and 4112.99.

COUNT V

(Retaliation - O.R.C. §§4112.02(I), 4112.99)

64. Plaintiff realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

65. Plaintiff engaged in protected activity when she complained about gender and

national origin harassment to Defendant.

66. Defendant retaliated against Plaintiff for engaging in this protected activity when

it terminated Plaintiff’s employment, destroyed her passport, prevented her from leaving

Afghanistan and returning home, refused to pay her properly, and moved her living quarters to a

tent, among other adverse actions as detailed in this Complaint.

 67. Defendant’s actions were willful, wanton and malicious in nature, and constituted

unlawful retaliation in violation of O.R.C. §4112.02(I).

68. Defendant’s conduct directly and proximately caused Plaintiff to suffer damages,
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and Plaintiff is entitled to judgment under O.R.C. §§4112.02(I) and 4112.99.

COUNT VI

(Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public Policy)

69. Plaintiff realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten.

70. Plaintiff informed an MEP manager as well as a U.S. mitilitary official about her

co-worker Kashef Khan being able to speak Waziri, and that he sought to hide his ethnicity. 

Plaintiff reasonably believed that his actions presented a security risk to the U.S. military.

71. The public policy of Ohio encourages employees to identify and report national

security risks to their employers.

72. Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment in retaliation for providing this

information.

73. Defendant’s conduct violated the public policy of Ohio.

  74. Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, wanton, malicious and in conscious

disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.

75. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered

injury and damage for which she is entitled to judgment.

COUNT VII

(Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress)

76. Plaintiff realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten.

77. Defendant knew or should have known that harassing Plaintiff by repeated

attempts to discipline her for unjustified reasons, locking her out of her room while she was in

the shower, and allowing a coworker to continue to harass her would Plaintiff substantial
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emotional trauma.

78. Defendant knew or should have known that accusing Plaintiff of committing a

crime and a violation of the 14  Amendment, refusing to explain the bases for these accusations,th

refusing to allow her to speak in her own defense, and firing her as if she were a criminal would

cause Plaintiff substantial emotional trauma.

79. Defendant also knew that Plaintiff had no means of returning home to the U.S.

from Afghanistan after it terminated her employment unless it arranged for military

transportation for her, and Defendant knew or should have known that refusing to arrange for her

transportation home for a significant period of time would cause Plaintiff substantial emotional

trauma.

80. Defendant also knew that Plaintiff was a naturalized U.S. citizen, that her only

means of proving her U.S. citizenship was her passport, and that she needed her passport to be

able to re-enter the U.S.  Defendant knew or should have known that deliberately destroying

Plaintiff’s U.S. passport would cause Plaintiff substantial emotional trauma.

81. Defendant also knew that refusing to pay her properly, moving her living quarters

to a tent on the far side of the Bagram base, and then ordering her to move to a base in Kabul

would isolate, humiliate and demoralize her, and would cause Plaintiff substantial emotional

trauma.

82. Defendant also knew that taking her cell phone away, monitoring her phone calls,

threatening to have her security clearance revoked, threatening to have her arrested by the

military police, keeping her waiting in the sun without food or water for ten hours, and ordering

her to have no contact with any military personnel would further isolate and humiliate her, and
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increase her feelings of helplessness and overall emotional trauma.

83. The actions alleged above and others alleged in this Complaint, were intended to

have the effect of causing serious emotional distress to Plaintiff and did have such an effect.

84. Defendant’s conduct was malicious and outrageous.

85. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s actions, Plaintiff has lost income,

privileges and benefits from employment, has suffered emotional distress, humiliation, loss of

self-esteem, loss of enjoyment of life, and will suffer further losses in the future.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant as follows:

(a) That Defendant be enjoined from further unlawful conduct as described in

the Complaint;

(b) That Plaintiff be reinstated to her employment with Defendant;

(c) That Plaintiff be awarded all pay and benefits lost;

(d) That Plaintiff be awarded compensatory damages;

(e) That Plaintiff be awarded punitive damages;

(f) That Plaintiff be awarded pre-judgment interest;

(g) That Plaintiff be compensated for the adverse tax consequences of

receiving a lump sum award rather than her compensation over several

separate tax years;

(h) That Plaintiff be awarded reasonable attorneys' fees and costs; and

(i) That Plaintiff be awarded all other legal and equitable relief to which she

may be entitled.
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Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Sheila M. Smith
Sheila M. Smith (0065115)
Tod J. Thompson (0076446)
Trial Attorneys for Plaintiff
FREKING & BETZ, LLC
525 Vine Street, Sixth Floor
Cincinnati, OH  45202
Phone: (513) 721-1975/Fax: (513) 651-2570
ssmith@frekingandbetz.com
tthompson@frekingandbetz.com

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues triable.

/s/ Sheila M. Smith


